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pilot program must: (1) Be a U.S. 
domicile; (2) conduct all pilot program 
banking activity (products and services) 
through an FDIC-supervised institution 
partner; and (3) not involve persons 
who have been convicted of any 
criminal offense involving dishonesty, 
breach of trust, or money laundering. 

Request for Comment 
Comments are invited on: (a) Whether 

the collection of information is 
necessary for the proper performance of 
the FDIC’s functions, including whether 
the information has practical utility; (b) 
the accuracy of the estimate of the 
burden of the information collection, 
including the validity of the 
methodology and assumptions used; (c) 
ways to enhance the quality, utility, and 
clarity of the information to be 
collected; and (d) ways to minimize the 
burden of the collection of information 
on respondents, including through the 
use of automated collection techniques 
or other forms of information 
technology. All comments will become 
a matter of public record. 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 
Annmarie H. Boyd, 
Assistant Executive Secretary. 
[FR Doc. 2019–24209 Filed 11–5–19; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 6714–01–P 

FEDERAL MARITIME COMMISSION 

[DOCKET NO. 19–08] 

Possible Revocation of Passenger 
Vessel Operator Performance 
Certificate No. P1397 Great Northern & 
Southern Navigation Co., LLC dba 
French America Line; Order Granting 
Hearing and Directing Great Northern 
& Southern Navigation Co. LLC dba 
French America Line To Show Cause 

Pursuant to 46 CFR 540.8(c) the 
Federal Maritime Commission grants a 
hearing and directs respondent Great 
Northern & Southern Navigation Co., 
LLC DBA French America Line, a 
certified passenger vessel operator, to 
show cause why its Performance 
Certificate should not be revoked for 
cause. 

Based on information provided to it, 
the Commission’s Bureau of 
Enforcement makes the following 
allegations: 

Statement of Facts Constituting Basis 
for Commission Action 

1. Great Northern & Southern 
Navigation Co., LLC dba French 
America Line (French America Line or 
FAL) is a Louisiana Limited Liability 
Company. 

2. According to records submitted to 
the Commission’s Bureau of 
Certification and Licensing (BCL), 
French America Line is said to maintain 
its principal offices at 700 Churchill 
Parkway, Avondale, LA 70094. 

3. BCL records identify the principal 
of French America Line as Christopher 
Kyte, Chairman, and Manager Duane 
Kendall Grigsby (Ken Grigsby) as Chief 
Operating Officer. 

4. Christopher Kyte has provided BCL 
with his address as 883 Island Drive, 
Suite 214, Alameda, CA 94502. 

5. BCL records identify David 
Christopher Tidmore as Registered 
Agent for service of process for FAL. 

6. Louisiana Secretary of State records 
also identify David Christopher Tidmore 
as Registered Agent for service of 
process for FAL, located at 3104 Roberta 
St. Metarie, LA 70003. 

7. On October 4, 2016, FAL entered 
into an Escrow Agreement with 
KeyBank, N.A. for the purposes of 
providing proof of Financial 
Responsibility for Indemnification of 
Passengers in the Event of 
Nonperformance. 

8. Upon receipt of the escrow 
agreement, BCL issued Performance 
Certificate No. P–1397 effective October 
5, 2016. 

9. French America Line is a 
Certificant operating as a passenger 
vessel operator (PVO) pursuant to 
Certificate (Performance) No. P–1397 
since October 2016. 

10. On October 26, 2016, FAL’s sole 
vessel, the LOUISIANE, suffered a 
sanitary system failure, requiring FAL to 
cancel multiple sailings. 

11. The escrow agreement requires 
FAL to submit weekly recomputations 
of unearned passenger revenue and 
refunds, and are used to adjust the 
amount in the escrow account 
accordingly. 

12. The escrow agreement requires 
FAL submit audit reports that attest to 
the veracity of unearned passenger 
revenue recomputations on a quarterly 
basis. 

13. The 2016 4th Quarter Independent 
Audit for October, November, and 
December was not received on or before 
the due date of February 14, 2017. 

14. The 2017 1st, 2nd, and 3rd 
Quarter Independent Audits were not 
received on or before the due dates of 
May 15, 2017, August 14, 2017, and 
November 14, 2017, respectively. 

15. The Louisiana Secretary of State 
web page indicates that, on September 
21, 2017, FAL changed its name to 
‘‘Great Northern & Southern Navigation 
Co LLC French America Line’’ from 
‘‘Great Northern & Southern Navigation 

Co., LLC’’. FAL failed to notify the 
Commission of this change. 

16. By email correspondence dated 
December 22, 2017 to Tajuanda 
Singletary, Ken Grigsby requested 
information about the audit process and 
what FAL needed to provide. 

17. Tajuanda Singletary responded to 
Ken Grigsby by email January 3, 2018 
with paragraph 8 of the escrow 
agreement which detailed the 
requirements for the independent audit. 

18. By correspondence emailed 
January 25, 2018 to FAL, BCL sent a 
notification letter to FAL of the 
Commission’s intent to conduct a 
review of Unearned Passenger Revenue 
pursuant to 46 CFR part 540. 

19. In the January 25, 2018 letter to 
FAL, BCL requested various financial 
documents to be submitted by February 
1, 2018. 

20. By correspondence emailed 
January 29, 2018 to BCL, Christopher 
Kyte requested a two-week extension to 
provide the documents. BCL granted 
extension to February 9, 2018. 

21. The documents requested in the 
notice of review letter were not received 
by February 9, 2018. On February 12, 
2018 BCL emailed Christopher Kyte, 
again requesting the documents. 

22. The 2017 4th Quarter Independent 
Audit for October, November, and 
December was not received on or before 
the due date of February 14, 2018. 

23. By correspondence emailed 
February 21, 2018 to FAL, BCL again 
requested the documentation named in 
the January 25, 2018 notice of review 
letter that was not submitted by the 
February 9, 2018 extended deadline. 

24. The 2018 1st Quarter Independent 
Audit for January, February, and March 
was not received on or before the due 
date of May 15, 2018. 

25. By correspondence emailed May 
18, 2018 to FAL, BCL notified FAL that 
it was not in compliance with the 
escrow agreement and gave a deadline 
of June 1, 2018 to come into compliance 
with the escrow agreement and provide 
BCL with the required reports, weekly 
recomputation certificates, statement of 
good standing with the state of 
Louisiana, and provide the current 
operating address of FAL. 

26. By correspondence emailed May 
31, 2018 to BCL, FAL responded to the 
May 18, 2018 notification stating that 
FAL remained at the same operating 
address of 700 Churchill Parkway, 
Avondale, LA 70094. FAL also 
requested an extension to submit the 
requested documents. 

27. On June 6, 2018, BCL granted 
FAL’s request for a deadline extension 
until June 30, 2018. 
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28. BCL did not receive the required 
recomputation certificates, requested 
documents, or independent reports by 
June 30, 2018. 

29. On July 12, 2018, a conference call 
was held between BCL and FAL during 
which FAL agreed it would report to the 
FMC the progress of its independent 
auditor no later than the morning of 
Wednesday, July 18, 2018. The parties 
agreed that a final audit report would be 
made available to the FMC no later than 
Friday, July 27, 2018. BCL sent a follow- 
up email to FAL memorializing the 
conference call. 

30. On July 16, 2018, Area 
Representative Eric Mintz visited the 
principal address of FAL at 700 
Churchill Parkway, Avondale, LA 
70094. FAL was not located at that 
address. 

31. By correspondence emailed July 
17, 2018, Mr. Scott Rojas, Director of 
Facilities and IT at the building located 
at 700 Churchill Parkway, Avondale, LA 
70094 confirmed French America Line/ 
Great Northern & Southern Navigation 
Co., LLC vacated that location the week 
of November 27, 2017. 

32. BCL did not receive a final audit 
report on July 27, 2018 as agreed during 
the July 12, 2018 call. 

33. The 2018 2nd Quarter 
Independent Audit for April, May, and 
June was not received on or before the 
due date of August 14, 2018. 

34. By correspondence emailed 
August 27, 2018 to FAL, BCL informed 
FAL that it was still not in compliance 
with the escrow agreement and that the 
outstanding reports continued to be past 
due. 

35. The 2018 3rd Quarter Independent 
Audit for July, August, and September 
was not received on or before the due 
date of November 14, 2018. 

36. By correspondence mailed and 
emailed February 6, 2019 to FAL, BCL 
informed FAL it was not in compliance 
with the escrow agreement and 
requested FAL provide the necessary 
documentation to comply with the 
agreement, the FMC’s regulations, and 
the requirements of the Louisiana 
Accountancy Act no later than April 9, 
2019. 

37. The 2018 4th Quarter Independent 
Audit for October, November, and 
December was not received on or before 
the due date of February 14, 2019. 

38. BCL did not receive the correct 
requested documents due April 9, 2019 
per BCL’s letter dated February 6, 2019. 

39. By correspondence mailed and 
emailed April 10, 2019 to FAL, BCL 
provided notice to FAL of BCL’s intent 
to revoke FAL’s Performance Certificate. 

40. The 2019 1st Quarter Independent 
Audit for January, February, and March 

was not received on or before the due 
date of May 15, 2019. 

41. As of October 9, 2019, FAL was 
not in good standing with the Louisiana 
Secretary of State. 

The Commission’s Jurisdiction and 
Requirements of Law 

42. Under 46 U.S.C. 41302(a), the 
Commission is empowered to 
investigate any conduct that the 
Commission believes to be in violation 
of Part A of Subtitle IV of Title 46 U.S. 
Code, 46 U.S.C. 40101–44101. 

43. Through 46 U.S.C. 44106, 46 
U.S.C. 41302(a) also applies to 
proceedings conducted by the 
Commission under Part C, 46 U.S.C. 
44101–44106. 

44. 46 U.S.C. 44102 provides: 
(a) Filing requirement. A person in the 

United States may not arrange, offer, 
advertise, or provide transportation on a 
vessel to which this chapter applies unless 
the person has filed with the Federal 
Maritime Commission evidence of financial 
responsibility to indemnify passengers for 
nonperformance of the transportation. 

(b) Satisfactory evidence. To satisfy 
subsection (a), a person must file– 

(1) Information the Commission considers 
necessary; or 

(2) A copy of the bond or other security, 
in such form as the Commission by 
regulation may require. 

45. The Commission’s regulations at 
46 CFR 540.8 provide: 

(c) If the applicant, within 20 days after 
notice of the proposed denial, revocation, 
suspension, or modification under paragraph 
(b) of this section, requests a hearing to show 
that such denial, revocation, suspension, or 
modification should not take place, such 
hearing shall be granted by the Commission. 

46. The Commission’s implementing 
regulations at 46 CFR 540.3 provide: 

No person in the United States may 
arrange, offer, advertise, or provide passage 
on a vessel unless a Certificate (Performance) 
has been issued to or covers such person. 

47. The Commission’s regulations at 
46 CFR 540.8(b) provide that a 
Certificate (Performance) be denied, 
revoked, suspended, or modified for any 
of the following reasons: 

(1) Making any willfully false statement to 
the Commission in connection with an 
application for a Certificate (Performance); 

(2) Circumstances whereby the party does 
not qualify as financially responsible in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
Commission; 

(3) Failure to comply with or respond to 
lawful inquiries, requests for information, 
rules, regulations, or orders of the 
Commission pursuant to the rules of this 
subpart. 

Basis For Revocation or Suspension of 
Respondent’s Certificate (Performance) 

48. The Commission has previously 
found that passenger vessel operators 
are not entitled to a Certificate where an 
operator misled Commission staff and 
failed to respond to lawful inquiries. 
Royal Venture Cruise Line, Inc. and 
Anastassios Kiriakidis–Possible 
Violations of Passenger Vessel 
Certification Requirements, 27 S.R.R. 
1069 (FMC 1997). 

49. The Commission will also issue 
cease and desist orders based on a 
vessel operator’s inability to establish its 
financial responsibility. Royal Venture 
Cruise Line, Inc. and Anastassios 
Kiriakidis–Possible Violations of 
Passenger Vessel Certification 
Requirements, 27 S.R.R. 1069 (FMC 
1997); American Star Lines, Inc., 
National Transatlantic Lines of Greece 
S.A. and Dimitri Anninos–Possible 
Violations of Passenger Vessel 
Certification Requirements, 25 S.R.R. 
1153 (FMC 1990). 

50. FAL’s false statements regarding 
its office address establish that 
revocation is proper under 46 CFR 
540.8(b)(1). 

51. FAL’s failure to timely submit 
quarterly independent audits for the 
past three years, as required by the 
terms of its escrow agreement, establish 
that FAL is no longer qualified to hold 
a Certificate within the meaning of 46 
U.S.C. 44102 and 46 CFR 540.8(b)(2). 

52. FAL’s failure to remain a Limited 
Liability Company in good standing 
with its state’s authority, as warranted 
in its escrow agreement, establish that 
FAL is no longer qualified to hold a 
Certificate within the meaning of 46 
U.S.C. 44102 and 46 CFR 540.8(b)(2). 

53. FAL’s failure to comply with 
information and document requests by 
Commission staff establish that 
revocation is proper under 46 CFR 
540.8(b)(3). 

Order 
Now therefore, it is ordered That, 

pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 41302, 41304, 
44106, and 46 CFR 540.8(c), Great 
Northern & Southern Navigation Co., 
LLC DBA French America Line is 
directed to show cause, within 25 days 
of publication of this Order in the 
Federal Register, why the Commission 
should not revoke its Certificate 
(Performance) inasmuch as the 
Certificant is otherwise not qualified to 
render passenger vessel services; 

It is further ordered That this 
proceeding be limited to the submission 
of affidavits of fact, memoranda of law, 
and documentary evidence; 

It is further ordered That any person 
having an interest and desiring to 
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intervene in this proceeding shall file a 
petition for leave to intervene in 
accordance with Rule 68 of the 
Commission’s Rules of Practice and 
Procedure, 46 CFR 502.68. Such petition 
shall be accompanied by the petitioner’s 
memorandum of law, affidavit of fact, 
and documentary evidence, if any, and 
shall be filed no later than the date fixed 
below; 

It is further ordered That Great 
Northern & Southern Navigation Co., 
LLC DBA French America Line be 
named as Respondent in this 
proceeding. Affidavits of fact, 
memoranda of law, and documentary 
evidence shall be filed by Respondent 
and any intervenors in support of 
Respondent no later than November 26, 
2019; 

It is further ordered That the 
Commission’s Bureau of Enforcement 
(BOE) be made a party to this 
proceeding; 

It is further ordered That reply 
affidavits, memoranda of law, and 
documentary evidence shall be filed by 
BOE and intervenors in opposition to 
Respondent no later than December 11, 
2019; 

It is further ordered That: 
(a) Should any party believe that the 

submission of testimony or additional 
evidence is required, that party must 
submit a request together with a 
statement setting forth in detail the facts 
to be proved, the relevance of those facts 
to the issues in this proceeding, a 
description of the evidence which 
would be adduced, and why such 
testimony or other evidence cannot be 
submitted by affidavit; and 

(b) Any request for submission of 
testimony or additional evidence shall 
be filed no later than December 11, 
2019; 

It is further ordered That notice of this 
Order to Show Cause be published in 
the Federal Register, and that a copy 
thereof be served upon Respondent at 
its last known address; 

It is further ordered That all 
documents submitted by any party of 
record in this proceeding shall be filed 
in accordance with Rule 2 of the 
Commission’s Rules of Practice and 
Procedure, 46 CFR 502.2, as well as 
mailed directly to all parties of record; 

Finally, it is ordered That pursuant to 
the terms of Rule 61 of the 
Commission’s Rules of Practice and 
Procedure, 46 CFR502.61, the final 
decision of the Commission in this 
proceeding shall be issued no later than 
February 27, 2020. 

By the Commission. 
Rachel Dickon, 
Secretary. 
[FR Doc. 2019–24177 Filed 11–5–19; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 6731–AA–P 

FEDERAL MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH 
REVIEW COMMISSION 

Sunshine Act Notice 

TIME AND DATE: 10:00 a.m., Thursday, 
December 12, 2019. 
PLACE: The Richard V. Backley Hearing 
Room, Room 511N, 1331 Pennsylvania 
Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20004 
(enter from F Street entrance). 
STATUS: Open. 
MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED: The 
Commission will consider and act upon 
the following in open session: Secretary 
of Labor v. The Monongalia County Coal 
Company, Docket Nos. WEVA 2015–509 
et al. (Issues include whether the Judge 
erred in denying the Secretary of Labor 
the opportunity to present evidence of 
prior violations to support his allegation 
that repeated flagrant violations had 
occurred.). 

Any person attending this meeting 
who requires special accessibility 
features and/or auxiliary aids, such as 
sign language interpreters, must inform 
the Commission in advance of those 
needs. Subject to 29 CFR 2706.150(a)(3) 
and 2706.160(d). 
CONTACT PERSON FOR MORE INFO: 
Emogene Johnson (202) 434–9935/(202) 
708–9300 for TDD Relay/1–800–877– 
8339 for toll free. 
PHONE NUMBER FOR LISTENING TO 
MEETING: 1–(866) 236–7472 

Passcode: 678–100. 
Authority: 5 U.S.C. 552b. 

Dated: November 4, 2019. 
Sarah L. Stewart, 
Deputy General Counsel. 
[FR Doc. 2019–24344 Filed 11–4–19; 4:15 pm] 

BILLING CODE 6735–01–P 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICES 

Agency for Healthcare Research and 
Quality 

Agency Information Collection 
Activities: Proposed Collection; 
Comment Request 

AGENCY: Agency for Healthcare Research 
and Quality, HHS. 
ACTION: Notice. 

SUMMARY: This notice announces the 
intention of the Agency for Healthcare 

Research and Quality (AHRQ) to request 
that the Office of Management and 
Budget (OMB) approve the proposed 
information collection project 
‘‘Outcome Measure Harmonization and 
Data Infrastructure for Patient Centered 
Outcomes Research in Depression.’’ 

This proposed information collection 
was previously published in the Federal 
Register on August 22, 2019 and 
allowed 60 days for public comment. No 
substantive comments were received by 
AHRQ during these 60 days. The 
purpose of this notice is to allow an 
additional 30 days for public comment. 
DATES: Comments on this notice must be 
received by 30 days after date of 
publication. 

ADDRESSES: Written comments should 
be submitted to: AHRQ’s OMB Desk 
Officer by fax at (202) 395–6974 
(attention: AHRQ’s desk officer) or by 
email at OIRA_submission@
omb.eop.gov (attention: AHRQ’s desk 
officer). 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Doris Lefkowitz, AHRQ Reports 
Clearance Officer, (301) 427–1477, or by 
email at doris.lefkowitz@AHRQ.hhs.gov. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: 

Proposed Project 

Outcome Measure Harmonization and 
Data Infrastructure for Patient Centered 
Outcomes Research in Depression 

The Agency for Healthcare Research 
and Quality’s (AHRQ) mission is to 
produce evidence to make health care 
safer, higher quality, more accessible, 
equitable, and affordable, and to work 
within the U.S. Department of Health 
and Human Services and with other 
partners to make sure that the evidence 
is understood and used. 

In support of this mission, AHRQ 
funded a prior project to harmonize the 
outcome measures collected across 
patient registries and routine clinical 
practice, with the goals of supporting 
the development of a robust data 
infrastructure that can consistently and 
efficiently collect high-quality data on 
outcome measures that are relevant to 
patients and clinicians and supporting 
patient-centered outcomes research and 
quality improvement. Harmonized 
outcome measures would also form the 
foundation for learning healthcare 
systems. Of note, AHRQ has supported 
the development of the Outcome 
Measures Framework (OMF). The OMF 
is a conceptual model for classifying 
outcomes that are relevant to patients 
and providers across most conditions. 
AHRQ, in collaboration with the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration and the 
National Library of Medicine, recently 
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